
 

 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD 

AGENDA 

August 25, 2016 

7:00 PM 

 

1. Call to Order  

2. Determination of a Quorum 

3. Purpose of Architectural Review Board; Statement of Qualifications of Architectural Review Board 

4. Approval of Minutes – July 28, 2016  

5. Old Business  

A. Amendment to Certificate of Appropriateness 16-26: Proposed building colors for 41 Beckham 
Street, Applicant Cris Bezdek, Wort Hog Brewing Company Partner. 

6. New Business 

A.  Certificate of Appropriateness 16-36: Replacement of a projecting sign at 81B Main Street, Melissa 
C. Hutcheson, Applicant. 

B. Certificate of Appropriateness 16-37: Installation of a sign on an existing ground sign at 25 
Winchester Street, Dave Colleran, Applicant; Kate Brandt, Tenant.  

7. Work Session 

8. Adjourn  



1 
 

  
 

DRAFT MINUTES  

ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD 
TOWN OF WARRENTON 

July 28, 2016 
7:00 P.M. 

The regular meeting of the Town of Warrenton Architectural Review Board (ARB) convened on 
July 28, 2016 at 7:00 PM in the Municipal Building. 

Dr. Melissa Wiedenfeld, Chair, called the meeting to order and a quorum was determined. The 
following members were present: Mr. James Tucker, Vice-Chair, Mr. Steve Wojcik, Mr. Carter 
Nevill, Dr. Carole Hertz and Mr. Alec Burnett. Ms. Kelly Machen, Community Development 
Planner was present and represented staff. 

Purpose Statement 

Dr. Wiedenfeld stated the Purpose of the Architectural Review Board; Statement of Qualifications of 
Architectural Review Board to be: The Board makes a decision on applications in order to preserve 
the character of the Historic District of the Town of Warrenton on behalf of the Town of Warrenton. 
Decisions of the Board are based upon the Historic Guidelines and a decision for each application is 
made based upon its own merits. Those decisions do not constitute precedence for any future 
decisions. The guidelines provide the framework for consistent decision making by elaborating upon 
the Zoning Ordinances goal to identify, protect and preserve the buildings within the Historic 
District boundaries. 

Dr. Wiedenfeld introduced Mr. Alec Burnett, a new member of the Town Council and representative 
member to the Architectural Review Board.  

Approval of Minutes  

Dr. Wiedenfeld said the minutes from the meeting of June 23, 2016 were for approval.  

Mr. Wojcik made a motion to approve the minutes of the previous meeting.  

Mr. Tucker seconded the motion and the motion passed unanimously (5-0).  

 

 



2 
 

• Certificate of Appropriateness 16-10. Replace copper roof with metal roof at 329 
Falmouth St, Kristin Worthington, Owner; Michael Dawson, Contractor 
 

Kristin Worthington approached the podium to address the board.   

Mr. Nevill asked the age of the copper roof.  

Ms. Worthington said the roof was replaced by the previous owner in 2000. Mr. Nevill explained 
that a copper roof has a life span of over 50 years. Ms. Worthington went on to say over the past 
eight years of owning the home, she has replaced over two-thirds of the interior walls and much of 
the ceiling on the second floor. She said she also discovered black mold in the basement. She stated 
the insurance company, including an adjustor and mold remediater, came out to perform an 
inspection and assessment. What they found is a leak in the roof that is going down an interior wall 
in the kitchen and contributing to the mold. The insurance company determined that replacing the 
roof would be the best permanent solution. Repairs over the past several years do not seem to have 
corrected the problem. The insurance company is not going to pay for any additional interior 
alterations until the roof is repaired.  

Mr. Nevill asked Ms. Worthington if she had a copy of the report from the insurance company.  

Ms. Worthington said she did not have a copy of the report with her. She added she would prefer to 
have a copper roof. 

Mr. Nevill explained the benefits of a copper roof and how it adds to the value of a home as well as 
the historic district. Several board members requested to have the report from the insurance 
company submitted and expressed concern over replacing a copper roof with a metal roof when 
rehabilitation, if done properly, may correct the problems.  

Board members then gave comments and queried Ms. Worthington further on issues regarding the 
roof.  

Mr. Tucker suggested to Ms. Worthington that she have a competent, reputable roofer take a fresh 
look at the structure and review the problems. He said he had driven by the house, took several 
photographs and believed the leaks were coming from a high point on the structure and that the 
previous repairs were not done properly. He then suggested to Ms. Worthington that she request an 
extension from the board and make a good effort to hire a competent copper roof mechanic to see if 
repairs will correct the problems. He added that a copper roof adds significant home value.  

Ms. Worthington said she wished to request an extension.  

There was discussion on whether or not the applicant could request an indefinite extension. Mr. 
Tucker noted a previous request by letter for indefinite extension from Mr. Foote and he said the 
example of that letter could be used in this instance.  

 



3 
 

Mr. Tucker made a motion to grant an indefinite extension as requested by the applicant for 
Certificate of Appropriateness 16-10. Replace copper roof with metal roof at 329 Falmouth Street.  

Ms. Hertz seconded the motion.  

The motion passed with all voting in favor (5-0).  

 

Work Session 

Kelly Machen, Community Development Planner, presented the board with a list of administrative 
approvals for the previous month.  

Dr. Wiedenfeld said there was no new information on signs or the Historic Guidelines.  

Mr. Tucker noted a concern about the canvas banner on the back of the building on Fourth Street. He 
said it was noted at the last meeting that they had been notified but the banner is still there.  

Ms. Machen said after two official Notices of Violation by zoning personnel it is turned over to the 
Town Attorney. They have received a verbal Notice of Violation and a written Notice of Violation is 
to be sent.  

Mr. Tucker said he was present at the appeal regarding the sign at 93 Main Street. At the appeal 
meeting, Attorney Merle Fallon spoke at length regarding the research he had done regarding the 
Historic Guidelines and signs. Mr. Fallon’s analysis of the Historic Guidelines was that the language 
is poor and has several contradictions. Mr. Tucker added that they should be working on signs and 
the wording of the Historic Guidelines. He noted that Mr. Fallon had talked about the sandwich 
board signs. Mr. Tucker said the sandwich board signs are something that needs to be addressed.  

Further discussion ensued regarding sandwich board signs.   

Mr. Nevill suggested that Architectural Review Board members attend the Town Envisioning 
meeting on Tuesday, August 2 at the First Baptist Church.  

 

Mr. Nevill made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  

Mr. Tucker seconded the motion.  

The meeting was adjourned at 7:49 p.m. 



 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD 

Staff Analysis COA 16-26 

August 25, 2016 

Applicant:  Cris Bezdek, Partner 

Owner:  MLC Property Management LLC: Wort Hog Brewing Company 

Address:  41 Beckham Street 

GPIN: 6984-33-9076-000 

Zoning:  Central Business District – CBD  

Type:  Proposed Exterior Building Colors 
 
Proposal:  
 
The applicant is seeking an amendment to the exterior building colors approved in COA 16-26. 
COA 16-26, as approved on June 23, 2016, approved the building colors at 41 Beckham Street as 
Dorian gray, Repose Gray, and Black Fox and the sail colors as orange, logo red, and unity leaf 
green. This amendment proposes the building colors as Cozy Red, Minwax Dark Walnut, 
Ambitious Amber.1 This amendment does not propose any changes to the previously approved 
sail colors, which will remain as approved (orange, red, and green).  
 
 
Historic and Architectural Significance:  
 
The circa 1940-1950 cinder-block garages, addressed as 41 Beckham Street, are part of the 
vernacular commercial building at 50 South Third Street.  
 
John R. Spilman constructed the circa 1900s building originally known as Fletcher’s Market. 
The 1-1/2 story, four-bay west wing was added at a later date. This building is identified as a 
“General Store/Express Office” on the 1915 and 1924 Sanborn maps and as an “Auto Sales 
Garage” on the 1931 map. Hickman’s Chevrolet was located here in 1928. The subject of this 
proposal includes the cinder-block garages to the west added circa 1940-1950. 
 

                                                   
1 The proposed colors will be used on the following locations: Cozy Red  trim on top of the building; Ambitious 
Amber  wall; Minwax Dark Walnut  wooden timber trellises. 



Amendment to COA 16-26 | 41 Beckham Street | Page 2 

Zoning Ordinance Considerations:  
 
The subject property is zoned CBD. The zoning ordinance does not have provisions on color.  
 
Historic District Guidelines Considerations: 
 

Non-contributory Structures  
 
Non-contributory structures should not have to meet the same criteria as other resources 
within the Historic District. The architectural significance and the style do not suggest the 
use of the same criteria by the ARB as consideration of their improvement, renovation or 
expansion. There is more flexibility in the design, texture, use of materials and architectural 
compatibility as contributory structures. Those non-contributory structures which are 
located amidst other contributing buildings or are in a location to significantly contribute to 
the District as a whole, should reflect the surrounding character of the area and be reviewed 
with compatibility of the District and its character in mind.  

 
Guidelines for New Construction 
 
The following guidelines shall be used in conjunction with the following guidelines for 
building elements. 
 
6.  MATERIALS, COLOR AND DETAILS: Harmony of colors is encouraged.  
 
Guidelines for Existing Windows, Dormer Windows, Doors, Shutters, Awnings & Details 
 
21. Awnings and framework should clear a sidewalk by eight feet. Do not allow existing 

awnings to deteriorate, fall and swing against the historic building or its features. If an 
existing cloth awning deteriorates to the point of needed replacement, it should match the 
original in material. Sloped shed-type fabric awnings are most appropriate for 
commercial and most residential buildings and obscure fewer building elements. Boxed 
awnings are discouraged. Awnings may be fixed or retractable, but the latter is 
preferred. Plastics, synthetics and aluminum are inappropriate materials and are 
discouraged. Awnings should correspond to the opening size and shape, and frames 
should always be fastened to the building in the least harmful manner and into the mortar 
joints or existing holes of former awnings or attachments. Fabric colors should 
compliment the building colors 

 
Guidelines for Awnings 
 
9.  The design of the awning and color of the cloth should compliment the building. Highly 

articulated facades with elaborate brick detailing or multicolored elements should have a 
fairly restrained awning pattern, preferably a solid color. A striped cloth awning can add 
more interest and detail to plainer facades. The scale of the design should be related to 
the proportions of the building. Larger-scale patterns are better suited for long expanses, 
with narrower or more repetitious designs for smaller widths. 



AGENDA ITEM 5A 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD 

AMENDMENT TO CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS 16-26 
 

August 25, 2016 
 
 
MOTION TO APPROVE 
 
I move to approve the amendment to Certificate of Appropriateness 16-26 for the proposed 
building colors at 41 Beckham Street as presented:  
 

1. The colors used for the building are Cozy Red, Minwax Dark Walnut, and Ambitious 
Amber 

2. The colors used for the sails are Orange, Red, and Green 
 
If these conditions are not met, the applicant will need to again appear before the board. 
 
Motion to Approve/Deny By:     
 
 
Seconded By:   
  
 
For:         Against:           Abstained:  



COAP 16-21

Cris Bezdek / MLC Property Management

Wort Hog Brewing Company

50A S Third St, Warrenton VA  20186

(703) 347 - 1428 cris@worthogbreweryllc.com

41 Beckham St, Warrenton  VA  20186

Owner

Propose a change in building exterior

color

X

X

Cris Bezdek

Owner

50A S Third St, Warrenton  VA  20186

(703) 347 - 1428 cris@worthogbreweryllc.com

Cris Bezdek







 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD 

Staff Analysis COA 16-36 

August 25, 2016 

Applicant/ Lessee:  Melissa C. Hutcheson (Nationwide – Hutcheson Agency) 
Owner:   Kane Manor Farm LLC. 

Address:   81B Main Street 
GPIN:  6984-43-5473-000 

Zoning:   Central Business District – CBD  
Type:   Projecting Sign 

 
Proposal:  
 
This is an application for the replacement of a wooden projecting sign with a new projecting sign 
composed of 3-inch thick wood substrate. The new sign is the same size as the previous sign at 
6.5 square feet. The previous wooden sign was grandfathered because it was approved by the 
Architectural Review Board and erected prior to the update of the Historic Guidelines. 
 
Historic and Architectural Significance:  
 
According to the 1998 Historic Resource survey, this building was constructed in 1854 by the 
Methodist Church and historically known as the Warrenton Town Hall from 1870 forward. This 
two-story, three-bay brick Greek Revival building has a pedimented gable front with bracketed 
eaves, brick pilasters with capitals, a molded brick cornice and recessed panels around the 
windows. The building is three bays long with a small one-story brick addition on the rear. There 
is evidence of former arched doors and windows on the first story, but these have been replaced 
with modern storefronts at some point in the building’s history.  
 
This lot was purchased by the Methodist Church is 1848 and a church was built on site in 1854. 
The Town bought the property in 1870 and used the building for the Town Hall, school and fire 
hall. The Fire Department used the building until 1977 when it was remodeled for commercial 
use. This impressive Greek Revival building has strong proportions and makes a significant 
contribution to the historic and architectural character of the Warrenton commercial district. 
 



COA 16-36 | 81B Main Street | Page 2 

Zoning Ordinance Considerations:  
 
The property is zoned Central Business District (CBD) and is located in the downtown area. 
Requirements for projecting signs in the CBD are identified in Article 6-2.5.5. Projecting signs 
are limited to one sign per business on the premises, and may not exceed thirty-two (32) square 
feet in area. A minimum of eight (8) feet of clearance must be maintained above the sidewalk (6-
1.6.15). Historic District Guidelines recommend signs be less than six (6) square feet. 
 
Staff may administratively approve a projecting sign that meets the following criteria: 
 

• A projecting sign of up to six (6) square feet may be administratively approved. 
• Projecting signs must be square, rectangular, round, or oval. The sign may have rounded 

or notched corners.  
• Wood and MDO are acceptable materials for use if they are painted. 
• A sign approved administratively may contain no more than 3 colors, background 

included. Colors deemed by staff to be potentially too bold, bright, or fluorescent will 
require review and approval by the Architectural Review Board. 

• Lettering may be applied by painting or applying vinyl letters. 
• Lettering style must be consistent with the Historic District Guidelines. Lettering is 

limited to 50 characters or less. Lettering size must meet requirements of the Zoning 
Ordinance. 

• Graphics, company/organization logos, etc. may be approved administratively. Graphics 
and logos must consist of solid, uniform colors. Colors utilized by the graphic/logo 
count towards the total number of colors (3) allowed for administrative approval. 
Graphics and logos will be limited to two (2) square feet, measured horizontally and 
vertically at its widest points. 

• The use of trim and borders are acceptable and should adhere to above color 
requirements. Trim and borders must consist of a solid, uniform color for administrative 
approval. Simple lines for the purpose of delineating and separation of information are to 
be considered “trim and borders”, and may be administratively approved. For the 
purposes of administrative approval, a line is considered the shortest distance between 
two points.  

 
Since the proposed sign is larger than six square feet, Architectural Review Board approval is 
required.  
 
The Warrenton Historic District Guidelines offer the following for signs in general: 

 
Sign requests will be considered relative to the individual characteristics, size and scale 
of the building, existing signage and site conditions. Although sign regulations in 
Article 6 represent maximum permitted signage, the size may be reduced for the size and 
scale of the building as deemed appropriate by the Architectural Review Board to meet 
the provisions of Article 3 HD-Historic District. 

 



COA 16-36 | 81B Main Street | Page 3 

The Historic District Guidelines offer the following for projecting signs: 
 

1. The bottom edge of the projecting sign should be eight (8) feet above the sidewalk. 
2. Projecting signs should not be larger than six (6) square feet. The sign panel should have 

a minimum six-inch (6") clearance from the face of the building, and extend to its 
outermost part less than four (4) feet. Projecting signs will be reviewed according to 
their scale and size and to the scale and size of the building to which they are proposed. 

4. Vinyl, plastic or internally lit signs are not be appropriate in the Historic District. 
6. Projecting signs should be of painted wood material. Wood molding or metal trim may be 

added for a more finished appearance. All components should be completely primed 
before assembling and painting. 

12. Franchise businesses often have generically used signage that is frequently oversized, 
overstated, synthetic or plastic and inappropriate for use in historic districts. Such 
signage is inappropriate in the Warrenton Historic District. 



AGENDA ITEM 6A 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD 

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS 16-36 
 

August 25, 2016 
 
 
MOTION TO APPROVE 
 
I move to approve the application for Certificate of Appropriateness 16-36 for the proposed 
projecting sign at 81B Main Street with the following conditions:  
 

1. A sign permit is acquired. 
2. Sign materials fit the Historic District Design Guidelines. 

 
If these conditions are not met, the applicant will need to again appear before the board. 
 
Motion to Approve/Deny By:   
 
 
Seconded By:   
  
 
For:            Against:            Abstained:  













____
36







 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD 

Staff Analysis COA 16-37 

August 25, 2016 

Applicant:  Dave Colleran (D & D Signs) 
Owner:  EPC VA 92 LLC  

Lessee: Kate Brandt (Mid-Atlantic Home Health Business)  
Address:  25 Winchester Street 

GPIN: 6984-34-9048-000   
Zoning:  Central Business District – CBD  

Type:  Ground Sign 

 
Proposal:  
 
This is an application for a wood sign on a ground sign/monument sign at 25 Winchester Street. 
The new sign will be attached on the existing ground sign structure, below an existing sign for 
“The Winchester House”. The proposed sign is white wood with black text, double sided, and 
5.8 square feet. The applicant is aware that the property owner’s signature is required for this 
application. Staff contacted the Chair of the ARB, who has allowed the application to move 
forward to the meeting this month with the condition that the property owner’s signature is 
obtained before an approved Certificate of Appropriateness is issued.  
 
Historic and Architectural Significance:  
 
This is a circa 1912 colonial revival structure and is a contributing resource to the Warrenton 
Historic District. The building is a 2 ½ story, 2-bay deep brick double house with a 1-bay rear 
wing. The windows have segmental arches and the building is trimmed with dentil cornice. The 
recessed entrances appear original but are heavily altered.    
 
Zoning Ordinance Considerations:  
 
The property is zoned Central Business District (CBD) and is located in the downtown area. 
Requirements for monument signs in the CBD are identified in Article 6-2.5.2, 6-2.5.3. Ground 
signs are limited to one ground sign per lot, and may not exceed thirty-two (32) square feet in 
area or eight (8) feet in height. Monument signs in the CBD may be located no closer then the 
right-of-way.  



COA 16-36 | 25 Winchester Street | Page 2 

 
Since staff cannot administrative approve ground signs, Architectural Review Board approval is 
required per Zoning Ordinance Article 3-5.3.5.2.6.  
 
The Warrenton Historic District Guidelines offer the following for signs in general: 

 
Sign requests will be considered relative to the individual characteristics, size and scale 
of the building, existing signage and site conditions. Although sign regulations in 
Article 6 represent maximum permitted signage, the size may be reduced for the size and 
scale of the building as deemed appropriate by the Architectural Review Board to meet 
the provisions of Article 3 HD-Historic District. 

 
The Historic District Guidelines offer the following for ground signs: 
 

Ground signs are not attached to any building but are supported by one or two posts 
anchored in the ground. Monument signs are also considered ground signs.  

 
1. Ground signs should be used only if the building is set back from the sidewalk, and 

placement will not impede the use of the front yard or pedestrian circulation.  

2. Often the most attractive ground signs have a wood sign panel framed by wood 
molding and pedimented or within a decorative iron frame and supported by a single, 
centered, wood or iron post.  

3. Ground signs must be in size and scale to the building, lot and setting.  

4. Vinyl, plastic or internally lit ground signs are not appropriate in the Historic 
District.  

5. Ground with a wood sign panel framed by wood molding and pediment or within a 
decorative iron frame and supported by a single, centered, wood or iron post are 
encouraged.  

6. Choose complimentary colors to the building and district. Business colors are not 
discouraged unless they are fluorescent or too bold.  

7. Creative designs and shapes are always encouraged.  

8. Franchise businesses often have generically used signage that is frequently oversized, 
overstated, synthetic or plastic and inappropriate for use in historic districts. Such 
signage is inappropriate in the Warrenton Historic District.  

9. Illumination can only be by indirect methods. Ground lights should be low-level, dull 
in finish, screened with plantings and have underground wiring. 



AGENDA ITEM 6B 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD 

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS 16-37 
 

August 25, 2016 
 
 
MOTION TO APPROVE 
 
I move to approve the application for Certificate of Appropriateness 16-37 for the proposed 
ground sign at 25 Winchester Street with the following conditions:  
 

1. A sign permit is acquired. 
2. The property owners signature is acquired before issuance of the COA 

 
If these conditions are not met, the applicant will need to again appear before the board. 
 
Motion to Approve/Deny By:  
 
 
Seconded By:   
  
 
For:            Against:           Abstained:  










	2016-08-25 ARB Agenda
	5. New Business
	A.  Certificate of Appropriateness 16-36: Replacement of a projecting sign at 81B Main Street, Melissa C. Hutcheson, Applicant.
	B. Certificate of Appropriateness 16-37: Installation of a sign on an existing ground sign at 25 Winchester Street, Dave Collean, Applicant; Kate Brandt, Tenant.
	6. Work Session

	2016-7-28 Draft  ARB Minutes
	COA 2016-36 Staff Analysis
	COA 2016-36 ARB Approval Letter
	COAP 2016-36 Application
	Sign Application
	Projecting Sign Application
	COA 2016-37 Staff Analysis
	COA 2016-37 Motion Sheet
	COA 2016-37 Application
	Sign_2016-42 Application
	2016-08-25 ARB Agenda.pdf
	5. Old Business
	A. Amendment to Certificate of Appropriateness 16-26: Proposed building colors for 41 Beckham Street, Applicant Cris Bezdek, Wort Hog Brewing Company Partner.
	6. New Business
	A.  Certificate of Appropriateness 16-36: Replacement of a projecting sign at 81B Main Street, Melissa C. Hutcheson, Applicant.
	B. Certificate of Appropriateness 16-37: Installation of a sign on an existing ground sign at 25 Winchester Street, Dave Colleran, Applicant; Kate Brandt, Tenant.
	7. Work Session




